IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KENNETH ADAMS,)	
)	
Petitioner,)	
)	
VS.) CASE NO. SC07-389	
) DCA CASE NO. 4D05-4	4488
STATE OF FLORIDA,)	
)	
Respondent.)	
)	

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION

CAREY HAUGHWOUT Public Defender 15th Judicial Circuit

JEFFREY L. ANDERSON Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 374407 Attorney for Kenneth Adams Criminal Justice Building 421 3rd Street/6th Floor West Palm Beach, Florida 33401-4203 (561) 355-7600 appeals@pd15.state.fl.us

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is a petition for discretionary review of the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal, on the grounds of express and direct conflict of decisions. In this brief of petitioner on jurisdiction, all references are to the appendix attached to this brief, paginated separately and identified as "A", followed by the page numbers(s). All emphasis is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The trial court revoked Mr. Adams' probation for failing to successfully complete a sexual offender treatment program. A1 Appellant had been willing to complete the program.¹ In affirming the revocation, the Fourth District Court of Appeal rejected the argument that it was error to revoke probation where there was no time period specified for him to complete the treatment program:

Kenneth Adams appeals the disposition order of the trial court revoking his probation. We find no merit in Adams's argument that the trial court erred in revoking his probation where there was no time period specified for him to complete sex offender treatment. We affirm

Like Adams, Mills argued on appeal before this court that the trial court erred in revoking his probation because of the absence of a specific time period within which he was to complete the program. *Id.* at 467. Although it found the issue unpreserved, this court specifically addressed and rejected Mills's argument. *Id.* (citing *Archer v. State*, 604 So. 2d 561, 563 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) (rejecting argument that no violation of probation occurred because court had not assigned a specific time period for probationer to complete therapy)).

A1, 4.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

¹ Appellant was deemed not to have successfully completed the program due to two unexecused absences A1. Even after termination from the program there was

The decision below, that revocation is warranted where a probationer enters but fails to successfully complete a program without the order specifying a time limit for completing the program is in express and direct conflict with *Yates v. State*, 909 So. 2d 974 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005); *Bingham v. State*, 655 So. 2d 1186 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995); *Dunkin v. State*, 780 So. 2d 223 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001); *Mitchell v. State*, 871 So. 2d 1040 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004).

sufficient time to successfully complete the program and "Adams stated at revocation hearing that he wanted to continue with the treatment program and probation" A3.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION BELOW IS IN EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT WITH YATES v. STATE, 909 So. 2D 974 (FLA. 2d DCA 2005); *BINGHAM v. STATE*, 655 SO. 2D 1186 (FLA. 1ST DCA 1995); *DUNKIN v. STATE*, 780 So. 2D 223 (FLA. 2D DCA 2001); *MITCHELL v. STATE*, 871 So. 2D 1040 (FLA. 2D DCA 2004).

The law within the first and second districts is that probation cannot be revoked for failure to successfully complete a program where the probationer has not been given notice that the program must be completed within a specific time. This holding is sensible, because a probationer can be terminated from a program for reasons which would not independently warrant revocation. Also, where one is <u>not</u> put on notice that he is required to successfully complete the program by a certain date or on the first attempt the conduct would not be within the meaning of Section 948.06, Fla. Stats., "willful" and "substantial."

Where a sentencing court intends that a probationer successfully complete a program within a certain time period it knows how to say so. In this case, the sentencing court did not say so. The lower court's opinion violates not only the probationer's federal and state due process rights to notice,² but is also in conflict with the following cases from the First and Second District Court of Appeal.

Yates v. State, 909 So. 2d 974 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005) (dismissal from a court ordered

treatment program did not amount to willful and substantial violation of community control where order did not require completion within a specified time or limit the number of chances probation had to succeed.)

Bingham v. State, 655 So. 2d 1186 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995) (where probationer was required to submit to psychosexual evaluation and treatment as directed, and he "submitted to six sessions of psychosexual counseling before he was terminated for unsatisfactory attendance," revocation reversed because condition "did not include a requirement of completion or some other time limit...").

Dunkin v. State, 780 So. 2d 223 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001) (where probationer was required to enter and successfully complete outpatient sex offender treatment program within first three years of supervision, and he was violated for being absent without permission for three consecutive sessions, revocation reversed, because condition "did not specify that treatment had to be successfully completed on the first or how many chances the appellant would be given to complete it successfully.")

Mitchell v. State, 871 So. 2d 1040 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004) (where sex offender treatment condition required that probationer needed to complete program, but "did not specify that treatment had to be successfully completed on the first try or how many chances would be given to complete the program," revocation for termination"due to unexcused absences" reversed.).

² See, e.g., Gurganus v. State. 391 So. 2d 706, 807 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980) ("[E]ven a judge cannot extend the probationary term without a hearing, with due process, and

having the accused violator before the court.")

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing facts authorities and arguments, petitioner respectfully requests this Court to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal.