IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC07-389 (4th DCA Case No. 4D05-4488)

KENNETH ADAMS,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

BILL McCOLLUM

Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA TERENZIO

Assistant Attorney General Bureau Chief, West Palm Beach Florida Bar No. 656879

GEORGINA JIMENEZ-OROSA

Senior Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 441510 1515 North Flagler Drive Suite 900

West Palm Beach, Florida 33401

Telephone: (561) 837-5000 Facsimile: (561) 837-5099

Counsel for Respondent

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the Defendant and Respondent was the prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Broward County, Florida. Petitioner was the Appellant and Respondent was the Appellee in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. In this brief, the parties shall be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court except that Petitioner may also be referred to as the State.

In this brief, the symbol "A" will be used to denote the appendix attached hereto.

All emphasis in this brief is supplied by Petitioner unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

To decide whether the Court should exercise its discretionary jurisdiction under Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution, the Court only looks within the "four corners" of the appellate opinion sought to be reviewed.

In its December 20, 2006 opinion issued in this case, while the Fourth District Court of Appeal acknowledged and rejected Petitioner's argument that the trial court erred in revoking his probation because of the absence of a specific time period within which he was to complete the program, it is clear that the District Court affirmed the revocation of probation based on specific facts and circumstances the particular and t.hat. established Petitioner willfully and substantially violated the condition of probation. After spending two pages of its opinion setting out the facts of the case, the District specifically held:

There was competent testimony that Adams had the resources to pay for his treatment, was aware he would be accommodated if he could not pay, and simply failed to attend. There was sufficient evidence for the trial court

to find by a preponderance of the evidence that Adams willfully and substantially violated his probation.

<u>Adams v. State</u>, 946 So. 2d 583, 586 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006). (Appendix).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The opinion of the district court is not in direct and express conflict with the decisions in Yates v. State, 909 So. 2d 974 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005); Bingham v. State, 655 So. 2d 1186 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995); Dunkin v. State, 780 So. 2d 223 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001); or Mitchell v. State, 871 So. 2d 1040 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004). Therefore, Petitioner has failed to show this Court has jurisdiction to review the opinion of the district court, and as such this Court should decline to review this cause on the merits.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DOES NOT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICT WITH THE DECISIONS IN YATES V. STATE, 909 So. 2d 974 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005); BINGHAM V. STATE, 655 So. 2d 1186 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995); DUNKIN V. STATE, 780 So.2d 223 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001); OR MITCHELL V. STATE, 871 So. 2d 1040 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004). THUS, PETITIONER HAS FAILED TO ESTABLISH THE COURT HAS DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THE OPINION OF THE DISTRICT COURT RESOLVING HIS APPEAL.

This Honorable Court has authority pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution (1980) to review a decision of a district court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or the Supreme Court on the same question of law. See The Florida Bar v. B.J.F., 530 So. 2d 286, 288 (Fla. 1988). This Court in Mancini v. State, 312 So. 2d 732, 733 (Fla. 1975), made it clear that its "jurisdiction to review decisions of courts of appeal because of alleged conflicts is invoked by (1) the announcement of a rule of law to produce a different result in a case which conflicts with a rule previously announced by this court or another district, or (2) the application of a rule of law to produce a different result in a case which involves substantially the same facts as a prior case. In this second situation, the facts of the case are of the utmost importance."

[Emphasis added]. See Department of Revenue v. Johnston, 442 So. 2d 950 (Fla. 1983) ("cases which are cited for conflict that are distinguishable on their facts will not vest this Court with jurisdiction").

Petitioner argues that because <u>Yates v. State</u>, 909 So. 2d 974 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005); <u>Bingham v. State</u>, 655 So. 2d 1186 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995); <u>Dunkin v. State</u>, 780 So.2d 223 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001); and <u>Mitchell v. State</u>, 871 So. 2d 1040 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004) hold "that probation cannot be revoked for failure to successfully complete a program where the probationer has not been given notice that the program must be completed within a specific time," the opinion under review is in conflict with those cases.

Respondent disagrees, and maintains that because this case is distinguishable factually from all those case, this Court does not have discretionary jurisdiction to review the District Court's opinion at bar. In its opinion, the District Court stated:

Adams claims the trial court abused its discretion by revoking his probation because the probation or how many chances he had to complete it. We clarify at the outset that the trial court revoked Adams's probation based upon failure to attend and complete sex offender treatment, not failure to pay.

. . .

Slip Opinion, p. 3 (Appendix).

The District Court relied in its prior decision in <u>Mills v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 840 So. 2d 464 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003) to affirm the trial court's order at bar, and explained:

Like Adams, Mills argued on appeal before this court that the trial court erred in revoking his probation because of the absence of a specific time period within which he was to complete the program. Id. at 467. Although it found the issue unpreserved, this court specifically addressed and rejected Mills's argument. Id. (citing Archer v. State, 604 So. 2d 561, 563 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) (rejecting argument that no violation of probation occurred because court had not assigned a specific time period for probationer to complete therapy)).

Slip Opinion, p. 4 (Appendix).

Respondent submits that this Court has upheld the Fourth District's position in Mills and rejected the argument espoused by Petitioner herein. In dismissing review of the Fifth DCA's opinion in Woodson v. State, 864 So. 2d 512 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004), review dismissed, 889 So. 2d 823 (Fla. 2004), Justice Pariente wrote:

I concur with the decision to dismiss because of the factual differences in the cases. I write to point out that, as observed by the Fourth District in Mills v. State, 840 So. 2d 464, 467 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003), the underlying issue in all cases dealing with failure to actively participate

in sexual offender treatment is whether the defendant's conduct in failing to participate and complete the program was willful.

The parameters of sexual offender probation are statutorily defined as a form intensive supervision with individualized treatment plan. Ş 948.001(7), Fla. Stat. (2004). The critical component of sexual offender probation is the active participation and completion of a sexual offender treatment program. 948.30(1)(c), Fla. Stat. (2004) (previously codified at section 948.03(5)(a)(3), Florida Statutes (2003)). It is only because the defendant agrees to participate in active treatment that the privilege of probation is extended. As Judge Sawaya expressed in the opinion below, "releasing a sex offender, untreated, does not alleviate the concern that he or she will reoffend and affords no protection to society." Woodson v. State, 864 So. 2d 512, 516 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004).

Because each treatment plan is individualized, it is not always realistic trial judge specify to parameters for completion at the time of sentencing. Nevertheless, the probation officer should clearly communicate to the defendant, both in writing and verbally, the specific details of the individualized treatment plan so that there is no question that the defendant is specifically on notice of exactly what is expected and when.

Woodson v. State, 889 So. 2d at 824 (Pariente, J.C., concurring).

Thus, since the opinion of the District Court in the case at bar does not expressly and directly conflict with the

district courts' rulings in Yates v. State, 909 So. 2d 974 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005); Bingham v. State, 655 So. 2d 1186 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995); Dunkin v. State, 780 So.2d 223 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001); and Mitchell v. State, 871 So. 2d 1040 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004), but rather, as asserted by Justice Pariente in Woodson, the opinions can be factually distinguished, Petitioner has failed to establish that this Court has jurisdiction to review the District Court's opinion in Adams v. State, 946 So. 2d 583 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006). See Woodson v. State, 889 So. 2d at 824 (Pariente, J.C., concurring); Department of Revenue v. Johnston, 442 So. 2d 950 (Fla. 1983) ("cases which are cited for conflict that are distinguishable on their facts will not vest this Court with jurisdiction").

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, based on the foregoing arguments and the authorities cited therein, Respondent respectfully requests this Court DENY Petitioner's request for discretionary review over the instant cause.